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DECISION AND ORDER

Background and Procedural History

This case arises under the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 29 U.S.C. § § 651-
678 (1970) (“The Act”).
On the evening of November 25, 1995, William Bauer, then age 22, lost hislifein atragic

fatal accident. He had been working from araised agrial lift doing repairs and maintenance on holiday
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decorations and lighting strung along the town’s streets. He was till riding in the “bucket” of the
aeria lift when the truck drove through an underpass that did not provide enough clearance for the
raised bucket and Mr. Bauer. Mr. Bauer died as aresult of hisimpacting the bridge structure.

Asaresult of the fatality, OSHA, the Occupationa Safety and Health Administration of the
U.S. Department of Labor, conducted an investigation. Following the investigation, OSHA issued
three citationsto Design Decorators (“ Respondent”), Bauer’ semployer, charging it with two willful,
one serious and one other-than-serious violations of the Act.! Penalties totaling $76,000 were
proposed by OSHA. Respondent timely contested.? Following the filing of complaint and answer
and pursuant to notices of hearing, the case came on to be heard in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania on
February 19 and 20 and March 11, 12 and 13, 1997. No affected employees sought to assert party
status. Both parties have filed post-hearing briefs.

Jurisdiction
Complainant aleges and Respondent does not deny that at the time of this inspection
Respondent was engaged in the manufacture, installation, maintenance and removal of Christmas

decorations. Respondent does not deny that it usestools, equipment and supplieswhich have moved

! The specifics surrounding the fatality were, unfortunately, focused upon by the partiesin

preparation for and during the course of the hearing. Asthe Commission noted in asimilar case:
Whether [the equipment operator’ saction] wasthe causal agent of the
death... need not be addressed here. A finding of noncompliance[with
OSHA standards] need not be predicated on the accuracy of a
post-hoc accident analysis, and it is not necessary that an established
instance of noncompliance have been the causative agent of injuries.
We emphasize that our inquiry is directed to the question of whether
[the OSHA standard was violated]. [ The operator’ §] actions during
any particular operation are referenced here solely asevidencetending
to show whether or not he [met the requirements of the cited
standard] relating to the operation of the...[equipment].

Herbert Vollers, Inc., 4 BNA OSHC 1798, 1801, n.6 (No. 9747, 1976)(Citations omitted.)
2 At the hearing Respondent withdrew its notice of contest to the single, other-than-serious

item contained in Citation 3 (Tr. 475-76). Accordingly, an other-than-serious violation of the
standard at 29 C.F.R. § 1904.8(a) is affirmed and a penalty of $2,500 is assessed therefor.
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in interstate commerce. | find that Respondent is engaged in a business affecting interstate
commerce.

Based on the above finding, | conclude that Respondent is an employer within the meaning
of § 3(5) of the Act.® Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the

parties.

Discussion

Somegeneral background information isrequired to put into perspective the discussion of the
individual items which follows.

Respondent’ s businessis small and highly seasonal. It manufactures, installs, maintains and
removes Christmas holiday decorations from public places such as, lampposts, building facades,
shopping centers and some private residences. During most of the calendar year it employs only the
owner, Salvatore Bonafino, hiswife Joan, his son Joseph, aforeman, Shawn Tillman and one person
who does sewing. (Tr. 1016-17). During “the season” some 20 or 22 employees are engaged. Even
at the height of the season there is only one foreman, although Joseph Bonafino, who aso has
supervisory authority, may be present at ajob sit as might the owner, Salvatore Bonafino. Many of
the employees return year after year. The nature of the business requires work be done quickly.
Those employees actually putting up, maintaining and removing public area Christmas decorations

work long days, often well into the night. (Tr. 136).

Citation 1, Item 1
29 C.F.R. § 1910.67(c)(2)(ii).

The soleitem of Citation No. 1 alleged aviolation of the general industry safety standard at
29 C.F.R. § 1910.67(c)(2)(ii)* in that:

Person(s) other than those trained operated an aerial lift:
a) Keswick Avenue, Glenside, PA - Employees were not aware of

3 Title 29 U.S.C. § 652(5).

* Thecited standard, 29 CFR § 1910.76(c)(2)(ii), providesthat, “[o]nly trained persons shall
operate an aerid lift.”
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unsafe conditions and the regulations that governed them (moving an
aerid lift while an employee was aoft in the basket, not wearing a
safety belt whilein the basket, and not being qualified to operate such
machinery). therefor (sic.) could not have been considered “trained”,
on or about 11/25/95.

The wording of the citation is unfortunate in that it implies that where violations are shown
to exist it must necessarily follow that employees were insufficiently trained. Such an issue is not
present in this case because the weight of the evidence is that employees who were permitted to
operate the aeria lift had been insufficiently trained.

The Commission, inTrinity Industries, Inc., 15 BNA OSHC 1788 (No. 89-1791) (“Trinity”),
addressed a standard which requires that powered industrial trucks be operated only by operators
trained in their “safe operation.”® In that case, the Secretary, before the Review Commission,
“acknowledged in her brief...that the requirements of the standard can be satisfied, abeit minimally,
by instructions in recognition and avoidance of unsafe conditions.” Trinity, supra., n. 3, p. 1789.
While the cited standard in this case does not describe the nature or scope of the training required,
it must necessarily mean that an operator of the aerial lift receivetraining at least sufficient to operate
the lift safely. Training limited to the use of the controls does not fulfill the requirements of the
standard. Trinity, supra, seeaso, North Florida Shipyards, Inc.,  BNA OSHC __ (No. 9%4-
3363, June 3, 1996), 1996 WL 360842 (O.S.H.R.C.)(Welsch, ALJ).° Thegravamen of theviolation
asalleged by the Secretary isthat while those employees who operated the lift may have been trained
asto the functions of the controls and levers which operated the movement of the lift sufficiently to
allow them to run it, that such training is incomplete under the cited standard because it fails to
apprise the operators of the hazards associated with such operations and how to mitigate those

hazards. The Secretary’sinterpretation of the standard is not unreasonable.

> Title 29 § 1910.178(l), which provides,

() Operator training. Only trained and authorized operators shall be
permitted to operate a powered industrial truck. Methods shall be
devised to train operatorsin the safe operation of powered industrial
trucks.

® Decisionsof Administrative Law Judges of the Commission which are not reviewed by the
Commission are not precedent. Leone Construction Co., 3 BNA OSHC 1979 (No. 4090, 1976).
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Two issues must be answered to resolve thisitem. First, what kind of training was required
given the nature of the aeria lift and the use to which it was put. Second, was training at least
meeting the minimum requirements provided to Respondent’ s employees who operated the lift.

The OSHA inspecting complianceofficer testified that “OSHA'’ sdefinition of trainingincludes
alittle bit more than just how to operate something” (Tr. 146-7) In reaching her determination as
to what the employee training should have been, she consulted the operating manua (GX - 6) and
testified that she “got a feel from other industries’ as to what type of training was necessary (Tr.
152). She reiterated on cross examination that the employee operators of Respondent’s aerial lift
should have been required “to know more about the truck than just ‘this lever movesit up and this
lever movesit down.”” (Tr. 239) She aso maintained that “ according to the manual...they are to be
trained on maintenance.” (Tr. 237). The Compliance Officer’s supervisor, who was responsible for
approving the issuance of the citation, testified that she (and OSHA) “relied” on Appendix A2,
Recommendations for Selection and Training of Operators, to ANSI A92.2-1969, American
National Standard for Vehicle-Mounted Elevating and Rotating Work Platforms, for defining what
training was required. Such training, she concluded, must encompass “familiarity with the manual
and in the safety of the equipment, in the operation of the equipment and the maintenance of the
equipment.” (Tr. 605) This opinion testimony of the compliance officer and her supervisor is
accorded little probative weight. Neither wasidentified or proffered as an expert witness, nor does
the record support afinding that either possesses the degree of training, education or experience with
aerid liftsto warrant relying on their opinions as to what training is necessary to safely operate such
machinery. The record, however, is not devoid of appropriate evidence.

CharlesM. Recard qualified and testified as an expert in aerid lifts. (Tr. 706). Hiseducation
and experience in the field (Tr. 685-705) warrant assigning considerable evidentiary weight to his
opinions as to the nature of training required for safe operation of an aerial lift. With thorough
knowledge of the equipment used by Respondent aswell as OSHA and ANSI standards, Mr. Recard
opined on direct examination that “atraining program involving the use of this aerial work platform

would, at aminimum, include areview of theinformation that wasin the manual.” (Tr. 729) (Similar,



Tr. 722-23).7

Another qualified expert, Mr. Ernest Merz, testifying on behalf of Respondent, offered the
opinion that the employees were sufficiently trained.(Tr. 1011). Upon careful examination, Mr.
Merz' s conclusion is not inconsistent with that of Mr. Recard. Mr. Merz conceded that in reaching
his opinion he relied on the statements of Mr. Bonafino and Mr. Tillman that employees had been
given and had read the operators manual. Mr. Merz aso stated that in reaching his conclusion he
“neglect[ed], ignore[d] or discredit[ed] the opinion of ex-employees (that they had never seen the
manual). Mr. Merz thus concluded that the employees were sufficiently trained, at least in part,
because they had reviewed the manual. His opinion asto what constitutes acceptable training isthus
in accord with that of Mr. Recard. Mr. Merz smply assumed completely opposite facts.

Accordingly, | conclude that under the requirements of the cited standard, the operators of
the aerid lift in this case could be considered to be “adequately trained” if the record showsthat the
operation of each of the levers and controls was shown to them and they demonstrated under
supervision that they could operate the lift and each operator had reviewed the operations manual for
the machine.

For thefollowing reasons, | find asfact that Respondent’ s employees who operated the aeria
lift did not receive or read the manual. Accordingly, they were not “trained” within the meaning of
the standard.

The Secretary maintains that three “former employees’ of Respondent, Mr Maryanski, Mr.
Thompson and Mr. Igielski “ stated in no uncertain termsthat though each of them used the aerial lift,
the company did not train them in any safety aspects pertaining to the use of the aerial lift.” (Sec.
brief, p. 19).

Respondent’ switnessesidentified four empl oyeeswho wereauthorized and trained to operate

" Upon lengthy, often unfocused cross examination frequently peppered with the witnesses
disingenuous attempts to parse to death the questioners examination, (e.g., not established that the
operators could read, even though each had taken and passed amechanical aptitudetest)(Tr, 768-9),
Mr. Recard, who had concluded that the lift had been used improperly, stated that “[b]ased on [the
operators| conduct they weren’t adequately trained.” (Tr. 774). Thecircumstancesleading uptothis
answer generated sufficient grounds for numerous misunderstandings between the questioner and
witness. Such confusion supports giving the answer little weight. It isunclear whether Mr. Recard
made this statement in reply to one of aseries of hypothetical questions or in a more genera vein.
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the aerid lift bucket, Mr. Tillman (the Foreman); Mr. Bauer (the deceased); Mr. Igielski (driver of
the truck on the night of the fatality) and Mr. Logan.?2 Mr. Tillman had been trained by Mr. Joseph
Bonafino (Tr. 805)° and, in turn trained the others.® Mr. Tillman stated that his training of the
employees began by their being given and reading through a “handbook” regarding the equipment.
(Tr. 805). According to Mr. Tillman, the men he trained took the manual home and returned it two
days later telling him that they had read it. (Tr. 810-11). After having read the manual, he showed
them how to operate the equipment and had them do so under his observation.(Id.) Mr. Tillman
stated that an additional employee, Mr. Maryanski, who had not read the manual, wanted to learn to
use the lift. According to Mr. Tillman, he observed while Mr. Maryanski (presumably with Mr.
Tillman'spermission) “got up in there, and | told him to come right down. Hewas scared, so | said
comedown.” (Tr. 816). Mr. Tillman noted that Mr. Igielski was agood operator and that Mr. Logan
“very seldom went up there.” (Tr. 817).

Respondent’ s owner, Mr. Bonafino asserted that he just showed employees the truck and
turned al training on it over the Mr. Tillman (Tr. 1025-26). He claimed to know that Mr. Tillman
gave the employees the manufacturer’ s manual because Mr. Tillman asked him for the manual. (Tr.
1029). According to Mr. Bonafino, Mr. Maryanski was neither trained nor authorized to operate
the lift. (Tr. 1023)

Theinvestigating compliance officer interviewed only three of Respondent’ s employees, the
owner (Mr. Bonafino), the foreman (Mr Tillman) , and the employee who was driving the truck on
the night of the fatality (Mr. Igielski). (Tr. 142). She testified that in her initia interview with
Respondent’s owner, he stated that the aeria lift owner’s manual was not used in his training of
operators. (Tr. 138-39).

8 Respondent’ sowner, Mr. Bonafino identified Bauer (misspelled as* Bowers”), Tillmanand
“Joe” (Igielski ?) asthe people who were using the bucket during that part of 1995. (GX- 11, p.15).

° Mr. Tillman received training on an ol der, but similar aerial lift owned by Respondent before
its purchase of the one referred to in this case. (Tr. 806).

19|t isclear from Mr. Tillman’s testimony that he stated that he had trained Mr. Igielski and
Mr. Logan. His answer regarding Mr. Bauer was, however, not responsive and not clarified by
counsel. (Tr. 809)
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| find that the sum of the Secretary’ stestimony, even with some caveats, ismore persuasive.
The testimony of Mr. Igielski will not be considered on any account. He is found to be totally
unreliable as a witness. Having admitted to willfully and knowingly lying in interviews and
depositions, | cannot consider histestimony at the hearing reliable in any aspect. (See, e.g., Tr. 529).
The testimony of Mr. Thompson and Mr. Maryanski, however, ismost direct and compelling. Both
testified that they had never seen the operators manual and that such a manual was not part of their
training. (Tr. 403-07; 410, 412-13; 370-73, 380 and 383). Respondent’s attempts to show that
Maryanski was in the bucket only once because he was *afraid” isrgjected. Similarly, Respondent
had not identified Mr. Thompson as someone authorized to operate the aerial lift. Respondent’s
reliance on payroll records and time cards, astestified to by Mr. Bonafino, in an attempt to challenge
the testimony of Mr. Thompson and Mr. Maryanski, ismisplaced. Evenif Mr. Bonafino’ stestimony
regarding the meanings of the time cards were to be credited, the records show, at most, that Mr.
Thompson and Mr. Maryanski may have somewhat overstated the amount of experiencethey had in
operating the aerial lift. The evidence does not refute their statements that they did indeed operate
the equipment. The amount of time which has elapsed since the events to which they testified and
the relative unimportance of such details in regard to the essential matters to which they were
testifying could well account for such lapses. Their inability to recall some details, however, does not
sgnificantly detract from their credibility. Mr. Thompson described training which amounted to
nothing more than being shown the how the controls operate. As with other employees, Mr.
Thompson described taking turns being in the bucket (Tr. 418-420) and having been “trained”
without any awarenessof the manufacturersmanual. (Tr.. 404). Mr. Bonafino’ sclaim otherwise, that
the operator’ smanua wasused intrainingisreected for several reasons. First, other inconsistencies,
aswill be discussed infra., indicate a lack of reliability to his statements about using the manual for
training. Second, Mr. Bonafino’s statements regarding how Mr. Tillman used or didn’'t use the
manua lack a basis of actual knowledge. He states that he never did any of the training himself
(except brief demonstrations) and that he relied on Tillman to do al of the rest. Even if credence
were accorded to Mr. Bonafino’s claim that Mr. Tillman got the manual from him and returned it at
alater date, his claim that the ‘trainees’ actually took possession of the manual and read it overnight

are unsupported and border on speculation. Third, Mr. Bonafino and Mr. Tillman have a much
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greater interest in the outcome of thiscase. Finally, Mr. Tillman’sgeneralizations, lack of detailsand
observable behavior on the stand as a witness are al more consistent with testimony lacking
credibility than was that of the former employee witnesses Mr. Maryanski and Mr. Thompson. | thus
find as fact, that employees trained by Respondent to operate the aeria lift and who did, in fact,
operate the aeria lift, had no training with the operations manual for the equipment. Their training
thus was not even minimally adequate. The requirements of the standard a 29 C.F.R. 8
1910.67(c)(2)(ii) were not met. Accordingly, Item 1 of Citation 1 is affirmed.

The Secretary has alleged that this violation is serious within the meaning of 8 17(k) of the
Act. Under section 17(k) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. 8§ 666(j), a violation is serious where there is a
substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from the violative condition.
It is the likelihood of serious physical harm or death arising from an accident rather than the
likelihood of the accident occurring which isconsidered in determining whether aviolationisserious.
Dravo Corp., 7 BNA OSHC 2095, 2101, (No. 16317, 1980), pet. for review denied, 639 F.2d 772
(3d Cir. 1980). It is not necessary for the occurrence of the accident itself to be probable. It is
sufficient if the accident is possible, and its probable result would be seriousinjury or death. Brown
& Root, Inc., Power Plant Div., 8 BNA OSHC 1055, 1060 (No. 76-3942, 1980).

In this case, regardless of the cause or nature of the fatal occurrence, the hazards associated
with the operation of an aerial lift by personslacking appropriate training in virtually any of the safety
aspects of its operation (e.g., observation and clearances required from power lines) raise the
possibility of resulting serious bodily injury. Asthe Compliance Officer testified, aerial lift operators
untrained in such matters asthe possibilities of collision with objects, inability to recognize Situations
to be avoided and procedures to use in emergency face the possibility of serious injury. | agree.
Accordingly, | find that the violation is serious within the meaning of § 17(k).

The Commission has often held that in determining appropriate penalties for violations * due
consideration” must be given to the four criteria under section 17(j) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. 666()).
Those factors include; the size of the employer’s business, gravity of the violation, good faith and
prior history. While the Commission has noted that the gravity of the violation is generally “the
primary element in the penalty assessment,” it also recognizes that the factors “are not necessarily

accorded equal weight.” An administrative law judge isrequired “to state an adequate factual basis
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for his assessment of a pendlty....” J.A. Jones Construction Co., 15 BNA OSHC 2201, 2214 (No.
87-2059, 1993).

Respondent does not have a history of any prior violations. Despite the compliance officer’s
use of 30 to 40 employees as a measure of Respondent’ssize (Tr. 609), it isavery small employer.
Respondent’ s business is so highly seasonal that during the “ off’” season it employs only 4 persons
and employs the 20 or so persons as stated by the compliance officer only during the season from
November through January. The single most compelling factor regarding the assessment of an
appropriate penalty for this violation, however, is Respondent’s owner’s “let the foreman take care
of it” attitude. Aswill be discussed in more detail infra., the owner’s approach to safety was sorely
lacking in sincerity. Itismost salient that in abusiness as small asthat of Respondent which is under
the direct day to day control of the owner personally that such alackadaisical attitude towards saf ety
is not only contagious, it clearly sends a signa to al employees that safety concerns occupy a less
than significant place in how the company operates. Under such circumstances, | cannot, on this
record, find agood faith effort to comply with the safety needs of the employees using the aerial lift.
Given the above considerations, and noting that the range of possible penalty for a serious violation
of from amaximum of $7,000 to aminimum of $1, | find that a penaty of $3,500 as proposed by the
Secretary is appropriate.

Citation 2, Item 1a
1910.67(c)(2)(viii)

Item 1 of Citation 2 contains two sub-parts. Item 1a, citing the standard at 29 CFR §
1910,67(c)(2)(viii)*, allegesthat;

! The standard cited, 29 CFR § 1910.62(c)(2)(vii), provides as follows,
(viii) Anaerid lift truck may not be moved when the boomiselevated
in aworking position with men in the basket, except for equipment
whichis specifically designed for thistype of operation in accordance
with the provisions of paragraphs (b)(1) and (b)(2) of this section.
Paragraphs (b)(1) and (b)(2), in turn, state:
1910.67(b) General requirements. (1) Unless otherwise provided in
this section, aerial devices (aeria lifts) acquired on or after July
1,1975, shall be designed and constructed in conformance with the
(continued...)
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[a]ln aerial lift truck was moved when the boom was elevated in a
working position with men in the basket:

a) Keswick Avenue, Glenside, PA - An employee worked in the
basket of a Versalift Model BV-24-G agrid lift mounted on a 1983
GMC truck, which was moved while the basket was elevated,
exposing him to hazards of striking objects and/or falling from the
basket, or about 11/25/95.

Because the most reasonabl e interpretation of the standard is one which considers the phrase
“elevated in aworking position” to mean any boom position other than the stored (stowed) or cradled
position, and because Respondent did not fulfill its burden of proving an exception to the requirement
because the equipment was*“ specifically designed for thistype (mobile) of operation,” the undisputed
facts of the case demonstrate that there was a violation of the cited standard.

Thereisvirtually no disagreement that at the time of the incident, the boom of the truck was

not in the stored or stowed position, the truck was in motion, and there was a man in the bucket.

1(...continued)

applicable requirements of the American National Standard
for"VehicleMounted Elevating and Rotating Work Platforms,” ANS|
A92.2 -1969, including appendix, which isincorporated by reference
asspecifiedin 1910.6. Aerid liftsacquired for use before July 1, 1975
which do not meet the requirements of ANSI A92.2 - 1969, may not
be used after July 1, 1976, unless they shall have been modified so as
to conform with the applicable design and construction requirements
of ANSI A92.2 - 1969. Aerid devices include the following types of
vehicleemounted aerial devices used to elevate 1910.67(b)(1)(1)
personnel to jobsitesaboveground: (I) Extensibleboom platforms, (ii)
aerial ladders, (iii) articulating boom platforms, (iv) vertical towers,
and (v) acombination of any of the above. Aeria equipment may be
made of metal, wood, fiberglass reinforced plastic (FRP), or other
material; may be powered or manually operated; and are deemed to be
aeria lifts whether or not they are capable of rotating about a
substantially vertical axis.

1910.67(b)(2)Aerial lifts may be "field modified" for uses other than
those intended by the manufacturer, provided the modification has
been certified in writing by the manufacturer or by any other
equivaent entity, such as a nationally recognized testing laboratory,
to be in conformity with all applicable provisions of ANSI A92.2 -
1969 and this section, and to be at least as safe as the equipment was
before modification.
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Thereisalso reliable, credible evidence that the aerial lift was used in the same or similar manner on
other jobs, sometimesin the presence of the foreman, Mr. Tillman (Tr. 408) or in the presence of Mr.
Bonafino (Tr. 378). These facts are sufficient for the Secretary’ s prima facie case.

Respondent’ s argument, essentially that “elevated in aworking position” means a position
from which work was actually performed, is rejected.

Respondent contendsthat the standard’ s prohibition against moving the vehiclewith aperson
in the bucket while the bucket is in an “elevated working position” is so vague as to require an
examination of industry custom and practice. One can reach this result only by ataking a strained
and unreasonabl einterpretation of the phrase“elevated working position” which it apparently arrived
at after the fatality.

The record contains many indications that Respondent’s owner was well aware that his
employees should not be in the bucket at any time when the truck was in motion. (GX-11, at p. 52,
GX-6). Indeed, at the hearing, Mr. Bonafino testified that he was aware that there were “inherent
dangers’ in employeesriding in the bucket of amoving truck regardless of the position of the bucket.
(Tr. 1054). Mr. Bonafino also maintained that he had a“rule” that if an employee were “caught”
riding the bucket he would be fired. (Tr. 1052-53). Mr. Bonafino apparently initialy told the
interviewing Compliance Officersthat he had awork rule prohibiting riding in an elevated bucket and
at one point said so in histestimony (GX-11, p. 16, 17-18, Tr . 1052). His foreman, Mr. Tillman,
however, thought at one point that the“rule” was that employees could ride the bucket if it were half-
way down. (GX-12, Pp. 15, 35). The operator’s manual which Mr. Bonafino and Mr. Tillman both
claim to have reviewed states clearly states. * STORE BOOM S BEFORE DRIVING TRUCK” and
“WARNING: DO NOT DRIVE THE TRUCK UNLESSBOTH BOOMS ARE IN THE STOWED
POSITION.” (GX-6, Pp. 28, 32)(Crigina all capital case.) Respondent’s expert, Mr. Merz, would
have us believe that such warnings are ambiguous because somehow “ drive” could refer to over-the-
road or highway driving as opposed to sowly moving the truck from pole to pole or from one work
location to another one which is close by (“mobile operations.”). Based on the fact, as testified to
by Mr. Merz, that some lift trucks are specifically designed for such “mobile operations,” he
maintained that the prohibitions in the manual for Respondent’ struck which are printed in all capital
lettersand, in some cases, accompanied by illustrations,  apparently appl[y] to driving fromwork site
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to work site, and not for moving operations. It doesn't say moving operations.” (Tr. 1000). As
observed by Mr. Recard, “[t]he manual makesit very clear that thistruck isnot to be driven with the
boom out of the cradled position.” (Tr. 734).

| rgject Mr. Merz' sinterpretation as strained, unreasonable and untenablein light of the plain,
clear and unambiguous language in the manual. The manua’s reference to “store” and “stow”
cannot, without straining credulity, be read to mean left in any elevated position. Accordingly, | find
that thereferencein the standard to “ elevated working position” meansany position other than stored
or stowed.

| also reject Respondent’s claim that its aerial truck falls within the exemption contained in
the standard.

In claiming that the aerial lift in question is exempt from the requirements of the standard,
Respondent places the burden of proof on the wrong party. Further, its claim iswithout merit.

Where, as here, a party claims the benefit of an exception, it has the burden of proving that
its claim comes within the exception. Stanbest Inc., 11 BNA OSHC 1222, 1226 (No. 76-4355,
1983). Thus, Respondent’ s assertion that

becausetheregulation exempts' specifically designed’ equipment from
its scope, the government must prove that, more likely than not,
Design Decorator’s aerid lift truck was not specifically designed for
such operations.

(Respondent brief, p. 15) isregected.

Respondent’s expert, Mr. Merz, opined that the standard does not itself define what
constitutes “ specifically designed for mobile operations.” He also testified that his inspection of the
truck and aerial lift led him to determine that it was safe for mobile operations based upon his own
analysisof itsdesign, stability and strength (Tr. 947-48). Mr. Merz looked at several ANSI standards
for similar equipment and consulted other users of aerial lifts as to the nature of their operations.
According to Respondent, it was reasonable for Mr. Merz to reach the conclusion that Respondent’ s
aerid lift was designed for mobile operations because he had determined that Respondent’ s aeridl lift
was safe for such operations, and he believed that there were no specific design requirementsin the
standard and there were no warnings in the manual prohibiting such operations. (Resp. brief, p16).

Such reasoning is anon-sequitur. First, even if the lift could in fact withstand the strain of mobile
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operations does not necessarily mean that it was designed to do so. Second, the lack of specific
design criteriain the standard says nothing about whether Respondent’ s machine was specifically
designed for such operations. Third, as previoudly discussed, the unambiguous warnings in the
machine’'s manual dispel any doubt as to whether the manufacturer of the machine itself thought it
was appropriate to conduct mobile operations with its equipment.

Mr. Merz' s testimony does not amount to proving by a preponderance of the evidence that
Respondent’ s equipment was specifically designed for mobile operations. Respondent has thus not
met its burden of proving its claim that the aerid lift came within the exception to the cited standard.

Moreover, a weighing of the conflicting expert opinions results in rejecting Respondent’s
position on the merits. The contrary conclusion of Mr. Recard is given far greater weight in light of
the basis of his opinion. Mr. Recard’s plain reading of the owner’s manual, his comparison of this
machine to others known to be designed for mobile use and his consideration of the opinion of the
manufacturer of Respondent’ smachine (which Mr. Merz did not seek out) all provided amore sound
and reasonable basis for his opinion.

Based on the above, | conclude that the cited standard prohibits moving the truck with the
boom out of the cradled position if the basket is occupied by a person. | aso conclude that
Respondent was in violation of the cited standard.

Therecord showsthat Respondent knew or reasonably should have known that itsemployees
were moving the truck while men were in the bucket which, in turn, was not in a cradled position.
Mr. Bonafino and Mr. Tillman admit that they knew such activities were taking place and there is
reliable and credible evidence that Mr. Joey Bonafino and Mr. Tillman were present when it was
done. (e.g., Tr. 374-75, 381-82, 409-411.) For the reasons stated previously, | credit the testimony
of these former employees and find asfact, that Respondent knew or reasonably should have known
that the apparatus was being moved with employeesin the bucket which had not been lowered al the
way into the stored or stowed position.

Accordingly, | conclude that Respondent was in violation of the cited standard. Item 1aof
citation 2, is AFFIRMED.

Citation 2, Item 1b
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1910.67(c)(2)(xii)
Item 1b of Citation No. 2 alleges aviolation of 29 CFR § 1910.67(c)(2)(xii)*?, in that;
Before moving an aeridl lift for travel, the boom was not inspected to
see that it was properly cradled:

a) Keswick Avenue, Glenside, PA - An employee worked in the
basket of a Versalift Model BV-24-G agrid lift mounted on a 1983
GMC truck, which was moved while the basket was elevated,
exposing him to hazards of striking objects and/or falling from the
basket, on or about 11/25/95.

Whilecited asaseparate sub-item, | concludethat thisalleged violation isencompassed within
and isan integra part of Item 1a. It isthusredundant. Assuchit isdismissed.

Citation 2, Item 2
1910.67(c)(2)(v)

The Item 2 of Citation No.2 aleges aviolation of 29 CFR § 1910.67(c)(2)(v), asfollows:
A body belt was not worn with a lanyard attached to the boom or
basket when working from an aeria lift:

a) Keswick Avenue, Glenside, PA - No safety belt or lanyard was
provided or worn by employee(s) working from the basket of an aeria
lift, exposing them to the hazard of falling or being thrown from the
basket, on or about 11/25/95.

The cited standard states, “ (v) A body belt shall be worn and alanyard attached to the boom
or basket when working from an aerid lift.”

While there is conflicting evidence as to whether Respondent “made available” a standard
safety belt, thereis clear and convincing evidence that employees of Respondent did, in fact, work
from the bucket without being secured by abody belt.(Resp. brief, p.3; Tr. 376-377, 385, 410). In
addition, Respondent’ sknowledgethat employeesworked from the bucket without using asafety belt

2 The cited standard, 29 CFR § 1926.679(c)(2)(xii), states:
(xii) Before moving an aerial lift for travel, the boom(s) shall be
inspected to see that it is properly cradled and outriggers are in
stowed position, except as provided in paragraph (c)(2)(viii) of this
section.
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is established by Mr. Bonafino's statements (Tr. 1059) and Mr. Tillman’s concession that he knew
that when he was not present “ guys have atendency not to useit.” (GX-12, Pp. 19-20)**. Onthe
above facts, aprima facie case for aviolation has been made out.

Much time and effort was devoted at the hearing regarding Respondent’ s claim that a safety
belt came with the truck when it was purchased and that the belt was available or at least in a
compartment on the truck at virtually all relevant times. Respondent seeks to establish that
employees operating the aeria lift without using a safety belt were engaged in unpreventable
employee misconduct.

The unpreventable employee misconduct defense has long been recognized by the
Commission. Jensen Construction Co., 7 BNA OSHC 1477, 1479 (No. 76-1538, 1979); accord
Brock v. L.E. Myers, 818 F.2d 270, 276 (6th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 989 (1987). Its
elements were clearly stated by the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit as follows;

The OSH Act requires that an employer do everything
reasonably within its power to ensure that its personnel do not violate
safety standards. But if an employer lives up to that billing and an
employee nonetheless fails to use proper equipment or otherwise
ignores firmly established safety measures, it seemsunfair to hold the
employer liable. To address this dilemma, both OSHRC and the
courts have recognized the availability of the UEM defense.

The contours of the UEM defense are relatively well defined.
To reach safe harbor, an employer must demonstrate that it (1)
established awork rule to prevent the reckless behavior and/or unsafe
condition from occurring, (2) adequately communicated theruletoits
employees, (3) took stepsto discover incidents of noncompliance, and
(4) effectively enforced the rule whenever employees transgressed it.
SeeNew York State Elec. & Gas Corp. v. Secretary of Labor, 88 F.3d
98, 105 (2d Cir.1996); General Dynamics, 599 F.2d at 458-59;
Jensen Constr. Co., 7 O.S.H. Cas. (BNA) 1477, 1479 (1979). The
employer must shoulder the burden of proving all four elements of the
UEM defense. See Brock v. L.E. Myers Co., 818 F.2d 1270, 1276
(6th Cir.1987); General Dynamics, 599 F.2d at 459. Sustaining this

13| credit Mr. Tillman's statement at deposition over his contradictory statement at the

hearing. (Tr. 848). The deposition was closer in time to the events in question and there is more
likelihood that he was being truthful in the less dramatic circumstances of a deposition as compared
to testifying in court. In addition, at the time of the deposition, there had been considerably lesstime
and opportunity to plan and discuss aline of defense for Respondent.
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burden requires more than pious platitudes. "an employer must do all
it feasibly can to prevent foreseeable hazards, including dangerous
conduct by its employees.” General Dynamics, 599 F.2d at 458;
accord H.B. Zachry Co. v. OSHRC, 638 F.2d 812, 818 (5th
Cir.1981).

* * *

Evenif an employer establisheswork rulesand communicatesthemto
its employees, the defense of unpreventable employee misconduct
cannot be sustained unless the employer also proves that it insists
upon compliance with the rules and regularly enforces them. See
Centex-Rooney Constr. Co., 16 O.SH. CAS. (BNA) 2127, 2130
(1994).

P. Gioioso & Sons, Inc., _ F.3d __ (No. 96-1807, 1st Cir., June 13, 1997), slip op., p. 9
(footnotes omitted.) [1997 WL 309916]

Respondent’ sassertion that it had awork rulethat belts were to be used need not be resolved
inlight of the clear testimony that to the degree that such a“rule” existed, Respondent’ s management
did virtually nothing to discover incidents of non-compliance with therule or to enforcetherule. Mr.
Salvatore Bonafino and Mr. Tillman both stood pat on their positions that they had heard that
employees were not using the belt but that they could do nothing about because they could never
catch the employees in the dangerous act. In light of al of the testimony as to Mr. Bonafino's and
Mr. Tillman's presence at work sites, this contention is clearly not meritorious. Mr. Bonafino also
testified that he never fired anyone for not wearing a safety belt because he never had “proof.” (Tr.
1060-61)."

On this record as awhole, | find that there was no earnest effort on the part of either Mr.
Bonafino or Mr. Tillman to discover violations of the supposed work rule or to effectively enforce
it. Such acquiescence by supervisory personnel is strong evidence that an employer’ s safety program
islax. Even if Respondent had supplied a belt and the belt was, at al times, in the bucket or easily
accessible in a compartment on the truck, Respondent would not prevail on this defense because it

falled to take any action in the face of actual or rumored or general employee knowledge of non-use

14 Mr. Bonafino's claim to have fired an employee for hisimproper use of the aerial lift does
not withstand close scrutiny. The “firing” lasted a few days at most after which the employee was
rehired, albeit, at an hourly salary one dollar lessthan before. (Tr. 1027-28). The employee received
abonus at the end of that season (Tr. 1032).
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of the belt’™. Respondent has thus failed to make out the affirmative defense of unpreventable
employee misconduct.*®

The subject of unpreventable employee misconduct cannot be left without comment on
Respondent’ sraising the possibility of drug or acohol useby elther or both of the employeesinvolved
inthe accident. A great deal of time, effort and expense was expended in investigating and bringing
to tria the issue of possible drug use. Theissueisonly marginally relevant. Moreover, Respondent
makes no such arguments in its post hearing brief, and has thus. abandoned the claim.’

Even if Respondent could show that the driver of the truck was under the influence of
cannabis at the time of the accident, it would have, at most, established the likely cause of the
accident and perhaps demonstrated that the particular episode was the product of employee
misconduct. In light of the extended and consistent course of conduct of Mr. Bonafino and Mr.
Tillman in disregarding employee safety, however, one night’s employee misconduct would not be
found to have been unpreventable within the meaning of the affirmative defense.

Were it necessary to arrive at afactual determination as to the state of the truck driver on
the night of the fatality, | would find on the evidence on this record that he was not under the
influence of cannabis or any other drug at the time of the incident. Two well qualified expert

witnesses, Dr. George Jackson and Dr. Sunil Kumar Niyogi, disagreed asto whether the post-incident

> In thisregard, were | called upon to determine as fact whether the belt was generally on
the truck and available to employees | would find that it was not. | would accord more credibility
and weight to the testimony of Mr. Maryanski and Thompson that they knew of no belt on the truck
as well as the police search of the truck two days after the incident (even though Respondent seeks
to question the thoroughness and validity of the search.) . Insum, | would reject Mr. Bonafino’sand
Mr. Tillman’s claims on credibility grounds.

16 Respondent merely mentions the infeasibleness and greater hazard affirmative defensesin
its post-hearing briefs. It presents little or no rationale, argument or evidence in support of either
defense. Even if, as Respondent claims, having the employee get out of the bucket while the truck
is moved from lamp post to lamp post would increase costs, slow the operation down, and add
physical exertion, neither defense has been made out. The claims are rejected.

7| anything, Mr. Tillman' s statement that on one occasion when he suspected that the driver
was under the influence of drugs, he merely moved him to an “inside job’” but did not discipline him
or report the incident the Mr. Bonafino (Tr. 865-66) reinforces the conclusions reached elsewhere
regarding the paucity of safety enforcement and the indifference to employee safety.
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blood tests of the truck driver *® demonstrated that he was under a drug induced impairment at the
time of the fatality. Both experts presented scientifically based conclusions, essentially representing
two opposing schools of thought, both of which are accepted in their field of expertise. (Tr. 465).
Thus | would reject neither expert’ s testimony. | would, however, accord more probative weight
to that of Dr. Jackson because his conclusion that the blood tests did not provide areliable indication
that the driver was impaired at the time of the incident is more consistent with the testimony of the
investigating police officerswho were at the scene and reported nothing in the driver’ s behavior that
they considered to demonstrate intoxication or functional impairment nor was he charged with any
such driving violation. (Tr. 22-23, 26-27, 69-70, 78-79, 259-260).
Accordingly, Item 2 of Citation 2 is AFFIRMED.

Willfulness of Violations Alleged in Citation 2.

The Secretary alleges that the violations alleged in Citation 2 were willful.

A willful violation is committed voluntarily with either an intentiona disregard for the
requirements of the Act or with plain indifference to employee safety. A.C. Dellovade,Inc., 13 BNA
OSHRC 1019 (1987); Asbestos Textile Co., 12 BNA OSHC 1062, 1063 (No. 79-3831, 1984). A
willful violation is differentiated from a non-willful violation by a heightened awareness that can be
considered a conscious disregard or plain indifference to the standard, i.e., General Motors Corp.,
Electro-Motive Div., 14 BNA OSHC 2064, 2068 (No. 82-630, 1991) (consolidated); Williams
Enterprises Inc., 13 BNA OSHRC at 1256-57. The test for willfulness describes misconduct that is
more than negligent but less than malicious or committed with specific intent to violate the Act or a
standard. Georgia Electric Co., 595 F.2d 309, 318-319 (5th Cir. 1979); Ensign - Bickford Co. v.
OSHRC, 717 F.2d 1419, 1422-23 (D.C. Cir. 1983).

The single most telling aspect of the nature of the aleged violationsin this case is that each
of the violations generated hazards of which both Mr. Bonafino and Mr Tillman were clearly aware.
They both acknowledged that they knew that riding in an elevated bucket and working from the
bucket without using a properly installed safety belt were hazardous. Nonetheless, as previoudy

8 The blood tests revealed the presence of 15 nanograms per deciliter of 9-carboxy-THC,
considered a positive for the presence of cannabinoids, (Tr. 327-28).
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discussed, both turned their heads the other way in the face of actual instances of occurring in front
of them. Both did nothing to gain further information for the purpose of aleviating the hazardous
conduct despite persistent rumors of such conduct. Such actual awareness of hazardous conditions
alongwiththeir failure as supervisorsto correct or eliminate them demonstratesplain indifferencefor
the purposes of willfulness. A. Schonbek & Co. v. Donavan, 646 F.2d 799, 800 (2nd Cir. 1981).

Thisis not a case of misfeasance but rather non-feasance. Mr. Bonafino tried to wash his
hands of al responsibility. He agreed that he personally took no action to enforce the use of safety
belts, saying “1 depend on Shawn Tillman for that.” (Tr. 1062). Despite his awareness of “rumors’
that employees were not wearing the beltsas required (Tr. 1060), Mr. Bonafino made no inquires at
all, of either the employees or Mr. Tillman. Mr. Bonafino essentially ignored the situation because
enforcement of safety rules was Mr. Tillman's job. (Tr 1063-63). Both Mr. Bonafino and Mr.
Tillman consciously chose to take no action in the face of knowledge that their employees were
“violating” safety rules and common sense and thus exposing themselves to dangers they need not
have faced. Such inaction congtitutes a clear indifference or reckless disregard for employee safety
and demonstrates a greater degree of culpability than mere knowledge of a hazardous condition
exigting. Conscious, voluntary inaction isaswillful asdeliberate action. Therecord in this caselacks
any reliable evidence that Respondent made a good faith effort to comply with the Act. On these
bases, the violations are willful within the meaning of the Act.

In light of the penalty factors previoudy considered, especially Respondent’s small size and
the small number of employees exposed to the violations (4), and the fact that the range of possible
penalty for each willful violation isfrom $5,000 minimum to $70,000 maximum under § 17(a) of the
Act, 29 C.F.R. § 662, the amount proposed by the Secretary, $35,000 for each violation, amounting
to one-half of the allowable maximum, istoo high. A penalty of $10,000 for each violation is more
appropriate.

Accordingly, Itemslaand 2 of Citation 2 are AFFIRMED aswillful violationsof the Act and
apenalty of $10,000 is assessed for each violation.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

All findings of fact necessary for adetermination of al relevant issues have been made above.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 52(a). All proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law inconsistent with this

decision are hereby denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Respondent was, at all times pertinent hereto, an employer within the meaning of section
3(5) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 29 U. S. C. 8 § 651 - 678 (1970).

2. The Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission hasjurisdiction over the parties
and the subject matter.

3. Respondent was in violation of § 5(a)(2) of the Act in that it failed to comply with the
standard at 29 C.F.R. § 1910.67(c)(2)(ii), asallegedin Citation 1, Item 1.

4. The violation above was serious within the meaning of § 17(b) of the Act for which a
penalty of $3,500 is appropriate.

5. Respondent wasin violation of 8 5(a)(2) of the Act in that is failed to comply with the
standards at 29 C.F.R. § § 1910.67(c)(2)(viii) and 67(c)(2)(v), asaleged in Citation 2, Items laand
2.

6. Theviolationsabovewerewillful within the meaning of § 17(a) of the Act for which acivil
penalty of $10,000 each is appropriate.

7. Pursuant to Respondent’ s withdraw of its notice of contest, Respondent was in violation
of § 5(a)(2) of the Act in that it failed to comply with 29 C.F.R. § 1904.8 as alleged in Citation 3,
Item 1.

8. The violation above was other-than-serious for which a civil penalty of $2,500 is

appropriate.
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ORDER

1. Citation 1, Item 1is AFFIRMED.

2. Citation 2, Items laand 2 are AFFIRMED.
3. Citation 2, Item 1bis VACATED.

4 Citation 2, Item 1is AFFIRMED.

5. Civil penalties totaling $ 26,000 are assessed.

Michael H. Schoenfeld
Judge, OSHRC
Dated: 8/19/97
Washington, D.C.



